NO. 43871-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

SHANE AUSTIN STACY,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. Factual History
D.	ARGUMENT
	I. THE TRIAL COURT'S USE OF INSTRUCTION NO. 18 AND REFUSAL TO GIVE THE DEFENDANT'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTION ON INVOLUNTARY INTOXICATION DENIED THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL
	COURT HAD PRECLUDED THE DEFENSE FROM PRESENTING EVIDENCE
	III. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE CONSTITUTIONAL MANDATE FOR PUBLIC TRIALS WHEN IT CONSIDERED AND RESPONDED TO A FACTUAL QUESTION BY THE JURY OFF THE RECORD AND OUTSIDE THE PRESENCE OF EITHER THE DEFENDANT OR THE PUBLIC WITHOUT ENTERING FINDINGS OF FACT TO SUPPORT THIS ACTION 29
	IV. THE TRIAL COURT DENIED THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL WHEN IT PRECLUDED HIM FROM PRESENTING SPECIFIC INSTANCES OF PEACEFULNESS UNDER ER 405(b) TO SUPPORT HIS CLAIM OF A TRAIT OF PEACEFULNESS

E.	CONCLUSION48
F.	APPENDIX
	1. Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3
	2. Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 10
	3. Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22
	4. United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment
	5. United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment 50
	6. ER 40551
	7. ER 801
	8. Instruction No. 18
	9. Proposed Instruction Defining Involuntary Intoxication 53
	10. Question from the Deliberating Jury and Court's Response 54

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page Federal Cases
Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968) 16, 23
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973)
Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967)
State Cases
<i>In re Lord</i> , 123 Wn.2d 296, 868 P.2d 835 (1994)
Seattle v. Hill, 72 Wn.2d 786, 435 P.2d 692, 698 (1967)
State v. Carter, 31 Wn.App. 572, 643 P.2d 916 (1982)
State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995) 29-32
State v. Bremer, 98 Wn.App 832, 991 P.2d 118 (2000)
State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 122 P.3d 150 (2005) 29, 30
State v. Cantabrana, 83 Wn.App. 204, 921 P.2d 572 (1996) 16
State v. Chapple, 145 Wn.2d 210, 36 P.3d 1025 (2001)
State v. Corwin, 32 Wn.App. 493, 649 P.2d 119 (1982)
State v. Duckett, 141 Wn.App. 797, 173 P.3d 948 (2007)
State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 137 P.3d 825 (2006) 29, 30
State v. Edmon, 28 Wn.App. 98, 621 P.2d 1310 (1981)
State v. Ellis, 136 Wn.2d 498, 963 P.2d 843 (1998
BRIEF OF APPELLANT - iv

Statutes and Court Rules

CrR 6.15
ER 405
ER 801
RCW 9A.16.090
Other Authorities
5a Washington Practice, §405.4 Part 1, Specific Instances of Conduct – Criminal Cases 43
13b Washington Practice, § 3204, ¶ 1, Involuntary Intoxication
LaFave & Scott, Substantive Criminal Law, § 4.10(f) (1986)

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

- 1. The trial court's use of Instruction No. 18 and the trial court's refusal to give the defendant's proposed instruction defining involuntary intoxication denied the defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment.
- 2. The trial court denied the defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when it invited the jury to base its decision upon a question of fact on which the court had precluded the defense from presenting evidence.
- 3. The trial court violated the constitutional mandate for public trials under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, when it considered and responded to a factual question by the jury off the record and outside the presence of either the defendant or the public without entering findings of fact to support this action.
- 4. The trial court denied the defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when it precluded him from presenting specific instances of peacefulness under ER 405(b) to support his claim of a trait of peacefulness.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Does a trial court's use of an instruction that fails to accurately define involuntary intoxication and the trial court's refusal to give a defendant's proposed instruction correctly defining involuntary intoxication deny that defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment?
- 2. Does a trial court deny a defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, if it invites the jury to base its decision upon a question of fact on which the court had precluded the defense from presenting evidence?
- 3. Does a trial court violate the constitutional mandate for public trials under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, if it considers and responds to a factual question by the jury off the record and outside the presence of either the defendant or the public without entering findings to support that action?
- 4. Does a trial court deny a defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, if it precludes that defendant from presenting specific instances of peacefulness under ER 405(b) when the existence of that trait is an essential element of the defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

At around 7:00 pm on February 24, 2012, the defendant Shane Austin Stacy went with his wife Mary Beth to a dinner and party at the Monticello Hotel in Longview hosted by the local chapter of the International Longshore and Warehouse Union (ILWU). RP 794. Although the defendant is not an ILWU member, his wife Mary Beth is. RP 792-793. Well over 200 union members, family and friends attended. RP 246-247. The Hotel had set up a bar in the ballroom for the guests at the party and allowed them to run bar tabs. Id. The defendant's bar tab showed that during the evening he purchased five beers and a number of mixed drinks. RP 795-796. According to the defendant and a number of party guests, the defendant drank the five beers over the evening and provided the mixed drinks for his wife and friends. RP 212-218, 589-593, 599-603, 607-611, 795-796. A toxicologist later opined that given the defendant's weight, these beers would have put the defendant's blood-alcohol level at somewhere between .03% to .05% by around 11:00 pm, well below the legal limit for driving. RP 682-685.

At about 11:00 pm that evening, a member of the Longshore Women's Auxiliary by the name of Andrea Holde arrived at the hotel to help

¹The record on appeal includes seven volumes of continuously numbered verbatim reports referred to herein as "RP [page #]."

clean up after the party, which was then beginning to break up. RP 157-161. When she arrived, she spoke with a friend by the name of Karen Mitchell, who told her that during the evening some people had seen a Union member by the name of Mike Robinson kissing the defendant's wife Mary Beth. *Id.*Mr. Robinson's wife Heather is a friend of Ms Holde. RP 160. This information upset Ms Holde to the point that she decided to find the defendant's wife Mary Beth and speak to her about the situation. RP 160-161. Ms Holde walked into the ballroom, found the defendant's wife Mary Beth, confronted her with what she had heard, and then asked Mary Beth if she "liked being a home wrecking whore." *Id.* Ms Holde's friend Karen Mitchell was present during this confrontation. RP 212-218. The defendant's wife denied the allegations. RP 162-163, 214-216.

At this point, Andrea Holde walked out of the ballroom into an area in front of the bathrooms leading to the front lobby, where she found the defendant. RP 162-163, 216-218. She then told him what she had heard about Mike Robinson and his wife kissing and asked the defendant if he and his wife Mary Beth "were swingers." *Id.* According to Andrea Holde, the defendant looked dumbfounded and said "what," to which Ms Holde responded "Is it OK for your wife to be making out with Mike Robinson?" *Id.* In response, the defendant walked over to his wife and spoke with her for about 30 seconds. *Id.* At this point the defendant turned, ran back over to Ms

Holde, grabbed her with one hand by the throat, and started strangling her while yelling "Why are you lying, why are you lying?" RP 164-170, 218-223. Ms Holde first thought he was joking as did others in the immediate vicinity. RP 167-170. However, when she felt the defendant squeezing she realized that he was not joking. *Id*.

At this point, two union members by the names of Jimmy Meadows and Scott Mitchell grabbed the defendant and Ms Holde and tried to pull them apart with Mr. Meadows pulling the defendant from behind and Mr. Mitchell grabbing the defendant's hands. RP 192, 200-203, 232, 234-239. When Mr. Meadows was unable to pull the defendant away from Ms Holde, he put the defendant in a "sleeper" hold by putting his arm around the defendant's neck from behind and squeezing, thereby rendering the defendant unconscious. RP 204, 207, 210-211, 238-239. Mr. Mitchell was initially unable to get the defendant's hands off Ms Holde's throat, but was successful after striking the defendant in the side a couple of times. RP 202-207. Others also grabbed at the defendant and Ms Holde, and the lot of them tumbled down into a heap on the floor with Ms Holde on the bottom. RP 169-170, 201-221. Mr. Mitchell then pulled Ms Holde out from the bottom of the pile and everyone got up except the defendant, who was unconscious, and two persons who were holding the defendant. RP 203-204, 210-211, 238-239.

After a short span of time the defendant started coming back to consciousness. RP 204-207, 424-427, 546-549. As he did, the first of many police officers arrived and tried to take the defendant into custody with the aide of the two holding him to the ground. RP 271-273. At the time, the defendant was flailing around, yelling obscenities and resisting to the point that the officer decided to grab the defendant by his legs while the other two persons continued to hold him. RP 274-278. When the officer took these actions, the defendant kicked the officer in the head. *Id.* Within a few minutes a second officer arrived and they were able to place the defendant in handcuffs. RP 279-284. The defendant struggled and yelled obscenities while they were doing so. *Id.* Within a short time a number of other officers arrived and assisted taking the defendant to the front porch of the hotel so aide workers could examine him. RP 279-284, 316-319.

A number of the officers at the scene noted that the defendant had the odor of intoxicants about his person, that his eyes were bloodshot and watery, and that his speech was slurred, all signs they believed indicative of alcohol intoxication. RP 285-287, 315-316, 342-344, 422-425. However, a number of party attendees who had direct contact with the defendant during the evening and right before the event stated that the defendant did not have slurred speech, did not have bloodshot and watery eyes, and did not exhibit any indicators of alcohol intoxication. RP 589-593, 599-603, 607-611, 795-

796 In fact, one such person was Shelly Porter. RP 770-788. She stated that around 10:45 or 11:00 pm she ran into the defendant and his wife Mary Beth and talked with them about the fact that Mike Robinson had kissed Mary Beth earlier in the evening. RP 775-778. She asked them if they were "OK" with what had happened and both said they were. *Id.* According to Ms Porter, the defendant's speech was not slurred, his eyes were not bloodshot and watery, he was not upset and he did not exhibit any indicators of alcohol intoxication. *Id.*

According to Ms Porter, a short while after having this conversation with the defendant and his wife Mary Beth she went out to the front porch with a friend to smoke a cigarette. RP 778-781. While doing so the defendant came out to speak to her. *Id.* Although it had only been 10 or 15 minutes since she had spoken with the defendant and his wife, the defendant's mood was completely changed and he was acting in a very odd manner. *Id.* First, he did not appear to recognize her. *Id.* Second, he called her by the name of "Michelle." *Id.* Third, he started making nonsensical allegations about her "talking" about his wife. *Id.* Fourth, according to Ms Porter, he simply looked "crazy." *Id.* The incident with Ms Holde occurred just before the defendant returned inside the hotel and spoke with Ms Holde. *Id.*

Once the police got the defendant outside, the ambulance personnel

examined him and recommended that the officers take the defendant to the Emergency Room to get him medically cleared before taking him to jail given the fact that he had been unconscious. RP 316-319. One of the officers then put the defendant into a patrol vehicle and took him to the local hospital. RP 405-408. Once at the hospital, a security guard came out to help the officer place the defendant into a wheelchair, which was standard procedure with arrestees who are at the hospital to be medically cleared for booking into jail. RP 411-414, 449-451. When the defendant did not respond to the officer's order to get out of the vehicle, both the police officer and the security guard reached in and pulled the defendant out. *Id*. While pushing the defendant into the building, he purposely put his feet on the ground to try to stop the wheelchair. *Id*.

Once inside the hospital, the officer and security guard lifted the defendant up onto an examining table in a "secure" ER room. RP 451-453. When a nurse came in to try to take his vital signs the defendant became very agitated and started yelling "Are you Christians" and "You are going to go to hell," along with other odd religious references. RP 413-415, 454-458. At one point the hospital security guard tried to help restrain the defendant as a nurse tried to take his blood pressure. *Id.* The defendant responded by kicking the security guard in the face and trying to kick at the officer and others in the room. RP 454-458. The officer and security guards along with

a second officer who had arrived then put the defendant in four point restraints. RP 343, 456, 473. Eventually a doctor came in, examined the defendant for a couple of minutes, and released him for booking into jail. RP 457, 464. At no point did either a police officer or hospital worker ask the defendant for a breath or fluid sample in order to test for either his alcohol level or the presence of any drugs. RP 285, 463-464, 483-487.

Once the defendant was medically cleared the officer and security guards placed him back in a wheelchair and put him back into a patrol vehicle. RP 347-348. By this time the defendant appeared cooperative. RP 320-322. According to the officers at the hospital and one of the security guards the defendant's speech was slurred, his eyes were watery and bloodshot, his movement was slow, and he appeared intoxicated. RP 320-322, 420-421, 454-458, 474-475. Once at the jail, the defendant again became combative and confrontational to the point that he threatened one of the jail officers. RP 330-333, 424-426. After booking they put him in a restraint chair and placed him in a holding cell. RP 797-798. The jail officers later let him out of the restraint chair. Id. At some point after being let out of the restraint chair one of the police officers who had earlier been at the hotel returned to the jail on an unrelated matter. RP 400-402. As he walked by the defendant's holding cell, the defendant walked up to the door and asked the officer what had happened and why he was in the jail. Id. He also stated that he had no memory of what had happened to put him in the jail. *Id*. At the trial that later occurred in this case, the court refused to allow the defense to elicit the defendant's statement to the officer that he had no memory of what had happened. *Id*.

Procedural History

By information filed February 28, 2012, the Cowlitz County Prosecutor charged the defendant Shane Austin Stacy with one count of second degree assault against Andrea Holde, one count of third degree assault against Office Tim Deisher, and one count of fourth degree assault against hospital security officer Kyle Rousch. CP 1-2. Following arraignment the defendant endorsed defenses of both voluntary intoxication as well as involuntary intoxication. RP 1, 13². At trial, the state called 17 witnesses, including Andrea Holde, Scott Mitchell, Karen Mitchell, Jimmy Meadows, the officer the defendant kicked while at the hotel and the security officer the defendant kicked at the hospital. RP 157-575. The defense then called 12 witnesses, including Shelly Porter, a forensics scientist, a pharmacist, the defendant, and a number of witnesses to testify concerning the defendant's reputation for peacefulness in the community and his physical state at the

²The record on appeal includes seven volumes of continuously numbered verbatim reports of a number of pretrial hearing, the jury trial and sentencing. They are referred to herein as "RP [page #]."

hotel. RP 589-828.

At the beginning of trial the state moved to exclude all of the defendant's witnesses whom the defense intended to call to give evidence of the defendant's reputation for peacefulness in the community as well as evidence of specific instances of that character trait. RP 115-122, 134-135. The defense responded by arguing that this evidence was relevant and admissible under ER 405(b) given the defendant's endorsed defense of involuntary intoxication. *Id.* The court granted the state's motion in part, ruling that while the defendant could bring in reputation evidence of the defendant's reputation in the community for peacefulness, the defense was precluded from introducing any specific instances of conduct tending to support that character trait. *Id.*

Both the state and the defendant's witnesses testified to the facts set out in the preceding factual history. See Factual History. In addition, the defendant testified that (1) he was not intoxicated that evening, having drank five beers over a four hour period, (2) that he did not use any non-prescribed drugs at all let alone that evening, (3) that he had no memory of what happened for the period of time from just before his assault on Andrea Holde to when he woke up in the jail strapped to a restraint chair, and (4) that he believes someone slipped him some type of drug that caused him to assault Ms Holde, the police officer and the hospital security guard. RP 795-814.

His belief that someone had surreptitiously given him some type of drug was supported by both the forensic scientist and the pharmacist he called as witnesses. RP 656-719, 720-769. Both opined that under all of the facts of the case, including the descriptions of all of the state and defendant's witnesses, along with the statements of the defendant, his assaultive conduct, his high blood pressure at the hospital, were best explained as having been caused by the defendant's ingestion of some type of central nervous system stimulant such as methamphetamine, amphetamine, MDMA, cocaine or PCP. RP 665-669, 671-681, 723-727.

Following the close of the defendant's case, the court instructed the jury with the defense objecting to the trial court's decision to give Instruction No. 18 setting out the defense of involuntary intoxication and the failure to give the defendant's proposed definition of this term. RP 835-836. Instruction No. 18 stated as follows:

Instruction No. 18

Involuntary Intoxication is a defense to a charge of Assault if:

- (a) The defendant was given alcohol or drugs by force or fraud; and
- (b) The alcohol or drugs prevented the defendant from forming the intent to assault.

The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true. If you find that the

defendant has established this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty as to a specific charge. Because a separate crime is charged in each count, you must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any other count.

CP 117.

The defendant's proposed instruction defining involuntary intoxication stated as follows:

Instruction No.

Involuntary intoxication is a defense to the crime charged. "Involuntary intoxication" means intoxication brought about by force, or fraud, or some other means not within the control of the defendant. Involuntary intoxication absolves the defendant of any criminal responsibility.

CP 72.

Specifically, the defense argued that the term "fraud" as used the in the court's instruction was a term of art and not a word generally understood in the public and that the court should instruct the jury that it included any administration of a drug to the defendant without his knowledge. RP 835-836.

Following instruction and closing arguments, the jury retired for deliberation. RP 842-856, 856-918, Specifically, the jury retired for deliberation at 11:39 am on July 13th, the fourth day of trial. RP 920. At 1:10 pm that same day the jury sent out a question on a form provided by the court. CP 180. Five minutes later at 1:15 pm the court sent back a reply. *Id*.

The following sets out the substance of that question and answer as is reflected from the original which is included in Clerk's Papers at page 180.

JURY QUESTION: What date was the defense hired for the defendant?

Dwayne Waterman 7-13-2012
Presiding Juror / Date

Date and time received by the Bailiff: 7/13/12 1:10

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