NO. 43871-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

SHANE AUSTIN STACY,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

AMIE L. HUNTER/WSBA # 31375 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Respondent

Hall of Justice 312 SW First Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

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

IV. ARGUMENT

1. THE INTOXICATION AS TO INVOLUNTARY INTOXICATION PROPERLY INFORMED THE JURY OF THE APPLICABLE LAW, WAS NOT MISLEADING, AND ALLOWED THE DEFENDANT TO PRESENT HIS THEORY OF THE CASE.

a. Standard of Review

The Defendant argues the trial court denied him the due process of a fair trial when it refused to give his proposed jury instruction on involuntary intoxication. *See* Def. Brf at 16. However, the defendant received a constitutionally fair trial as the trial court's instruction properly informed the jury of the applicable law, was not misleading, and allowed the defendant to present his theory of the case. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 105, 217 P.3d 756 (2010) citing *State v. Mills*, 154 Wn.2d 1, 7, 109 P.3d 415 (2005); *State v. Walters*, 162 Wn.App. 74, 82, 255 P.3d 835 (Div 3, 2011).

The standard of review applicable to jury instructions depends on the decision under review. When a defendant argues the instructions were insufficient to allow him to argue his theory of the case, a court reviews this question of law de novo. *Cox v. Spongier*, 141 Wn.2d 431, 442, 5 P.3d 1265, 22 P.3d 791 (2000); *Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 165, 876 P.2d 435 (1994). Whether the court's instructions to the jury are accurate statements of the law is also a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Becklin, 163 Wn.2d 519, 525, 182 P.3d 944 (2008). However, a trial court's choice or wording of jury instructions is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Hathaway, 161 Wn.App. 634, 647, 251 P.3d 253 (selection of more general, rather than specific, instruction; abuse of discretion standard applied), review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1021 (2011); Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 159 Wn.App. 35, 244 P.3d 32 (2010) (abuse of discretion standard applies to number of instructions and specific wording), aff'd, 174 Wn.2d 851, 281 P.3d 289 (2012). A trial court has broad discretion in determining the wording of jury instructions and discretion is abused when it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State v. Walters, 162 Wn.App. 74, 82, 255 P.3d 835 (Div 2, 2011) citing Petersen v. State, 100 Wn.2d 421, 440, 671 P.2d 230 (1983); see also, State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

The Defendant puts forth two arguments claiming the court's instruction was deficient; one, the court limited the Defendant's ability to present his theory of the case, and two, the instruction failed to define the term fraud. *See* Def. Brf at 20. The court should review the first argument de novo and the second for abuse of discretion.

b. The court's instruction correctly stated the law and allowed the Defendant to argue his theory of the case.

The Defendant proposed several different jury instructions on voluntary and involuntary intoxication. CP 72-75. He assigns error only to the court's failure to give this proposed instruction:

Involuntary intoxication is a defense to the crimes charged. "Involuntary intoxication" means intoxication brought about by force, or fraud, or some other means not within the control of the defendant. Involuntary intoxication absolves the defendant of any criminal responsibility."

CP 72. The Defendant objected to instruction 17 and 18 and argued he based his instruction on *State v. Corwin* and *State v. Murdlock* and the State had the burden of disproving involuntary intoxication beyond a reasonable doubt and for all purposes involuntary and voluntary intoxication were the same. RP 834-35. He also argued the term "fraud" was unclear and the case law implied a broader definition. RP 836. The court declined to give this instruction saying it disagreed with defense counsel's legal analysis of the burden of proof and fraud was in the common understanding of the jury and the term allowed counsel to argue his theory of the case. RP 836-37.

Number 17 of the court's instructions to the jury was the standard Washington Pattern Instruction number 18.02, stating: "No act committed

by a person while in a state of voluntary intoxication is less criminal by reason of that condition. However, the evidence of intoxication may be considered in determined whether the defendant acted with intent." CP

176.

Number 18 of the court's instructions stated:

Involuntary Intoxication is a defense to a charge of Assault if:

- (c) The defendant was given alcohol or drugs by force or fraud; and
- (d) The alcohol or drugs prevented the defendant from forming the intent to assault.

The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true. If you find that the defendant has established this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty as to a specific charge. Because a separate crime is charged in each count, you must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any other count.

CP 177.

There is no Washington Pattern Jury Instruction for the Involuntary Intoxication defense. The leading cases considering the defense state it is "disfavored for its potential for abuse," and must rise to the level of insanity because it excuses the criminality of an act. *State*... *Mriglot*, 88 Wn.2d 573, 575, 564 P.2d 784 (1977). However, *Mriglot* does not stand for the proposition defense cites: that involuntary intoxication is akin to insanity in every instance. *Mriglot* distinguishes the defense on the basis of the level of intent necessitated by the crime. In cases where the charge only requires general intent, the defendant must show the intoxication rises to the level that the defendant is unable to perceive the nature and quality of his act or to tell right from wrong as to the act charged. *Id.* at 576. In cases where the charge requires a specific intent, the degree of involuntary intoxication need only demonstrate the defendant lacked the specific intent. *Id.* at 576. Most important, the Washington Supreme Court found the *practical effect of the intoxication defense is the same* whether it is voluntary or involuntary for specific intent crimes. *Id.* at FN2.

In *State v. Gilchrist*, 25 Wn.App. 327, 328, 606 P.2d 716 (Div. 1, 1980), Gilchrist presented involuntary intoxication as a defense to the charge of Escape. Escape is a general intent crime. *Id. Gilchrist* did not consider whether there was a distinction between general intent or specific intent crimes. However, Division One followed the thread of *Mriglot*, determining if involuntary intoxication is akin to insanity, it is proper to require the defendant to prove the defense by a preponderance of the evidence. *See also State v. Riker*, 123 Wn.2d 351, 367-69, 869 P.2d 43 (1994); *State v. Carter*, 31 Wn.App. 572, 575, 643 P.2d 916 (Div 1, 1982).

The Court distinguished voluntary from involuntary intoxication, finding voluntary intoxication does not rise to the same level as insanity and so long as the defendant comes forward with initial evidence of intoxication, he does not bear the burden of persuasion. *State v. Carter*, 31 Wn.App. 572, 575. Thus, it is proper to instruct the jury as to voluntary intoxication under WPIC 18.10 without comment as to the burden. *Id.* at 575, 577; *State v. Corwin*, 32 Wn.App. 493, 649 P.2d 119 (Div 1, 1982).

In *State v. Hutsell*, 120 Wn.2d 913, 845 P.2d 1325 (1993), the Washington Supreme Court found the opportunity to clarify the definitions of voluntary versus involuntary intoxication when looking at mitigation factors for sentencing. The Court stated because involuntary intoxication absolves the defendant of criminal responsibility, the term "involuntary" is construed narrowly, whereas, the term "voluntary" has "a definition broader than its colloquial meaning." *Id.* at 920. Voluntary intoxication is "not caused by force or fraud." *Id.* Conversely, involuntary intoxication must be *caused by* force or fraud. *Id.*, citing *Seattle v. Hill*, 72 Wn.2d 786, 435 P.2d 692 (1967), *cert. denied*, 393 U.S. 872, 89 S.Ct 163, 21 L. Ed.2d 142 (1968).

The Defendant argues the court instruction that "the alcohol or drugs prevented the defendant from forming the intent to assault" was

22

erroneous as the court should have instructed using the insanity language. However, under the reading of *Mriglot*, since assault is a specific intent, the defenses of voluntary and involuntary are virtually the same and the substance must negate the intent of the crime. Only where the crime a general intent crime, must the instruction use the insanity test. Moreover, using *Hutsell*, the force or fraud must cause the involuntary intoxication. Hence the force or fraud equals the intoxication which negates intent.

The defendant alleges the instruction prohibited him from presenting his defense. However, gives no citation to what evidence or argument he was prevented in making under this instruction. As the instruction was correct under the cases cited above, there was no error.

c. The court did not abuse its discretion in the wording of the instruction.

The defendant also alleges the court incorrectly instructed the jury in instruction 18 by limiting involuntary intoxication to a "substance given by force or fraud" versus his instruction which added "some other means not within the control of the defendant. CP 177, 72. However, a court has great discretion in giving instructions to a jury that meet the evidence presented by the parties. *State v. Hathaway*. 161 Wn.App. 634, 647, 251 P.3d 253 (Div 2, 2011). "To satisfy the constitutional demands of a fair trial, the jury instructions, when read as a whole, must correctly tell the jury of the applicable law, not be misleading, and permit the defendant to present his theory of the case." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 105, 217 P.3d 756 (2010). The "constitution only requires the jury be instructed as to each element of the offense charged, and the failure of the trial court to further define one of those elements is not within the ambit of the constitutional rule." *Id.*

In *State v. O'Hara*, the defendant raised self-defense to a charge of assault in the second degree. He proposed an instruction that a person is entitled to use force in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against the person or a malicious trespass or other malicious interference with property. *Id.* at 96. The court sua sponte and without objection by defendant, instructed the jury that malice was an "evil intent, wish, or design to vex, annoy or injury another person." *Id.* On appeal, O'Hara argued the court's failure to completely instruct the jury as to malice violated his constitutional right to a fair trial. *Id.* at 97.

In reviewing a number of other cases, the court determined the failure to fully define a term, versus an essential element, is not error. *Id.* at 105. The court looked to *State v. Ng*, 110 Wn.2d 32, 44-45, 750 P.2d 632 (1988) where the trial court failed to define the term theft in a robbery instruction. The *Ng* court reasoned that theft was a commonly understood

term to allow the jury to convict for robbery. *Id.* Moreover, in *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 691-92, 757 P.2d 492 (1989), the failure to define knowledge under an accomplice liability instruction was not constitutional error as there was no reason to believe the definition of knowledge required anything more than a common understanding. *Id.*

In O'Hara, the court reasoned even though the court did not fully define malice, the instruction did not prevent the jury from inferring malice from other circumstances not so defined, and the State was not relieved of its burden of proof. O'Hara at 107. The court particularly found helpful the instruction to the jury that "it could use circumstantial evidence, which is 'evidence of facts or circumstances from which the existence or nonexistence of other fact may be reasonably inferred from common experience." *Id.* The court could not find any practical and identifiable consequences from a failure to give the complete instruction. *Id.* at 108.

In the present case, the defendant argues by failing to give an additional meaning of when a defendant consumes substances by means not within the control of the defendant, he was prohibited from presenting a defense. However, the court was well within its discretion in the wording of the instruction as the defense was he was slipped something by someone else. The definition of fraud is "deceit, trickery, sharp practice, or breach of confidence, perpetrated for profit or to gain some unfair or dishonest advantage." http://dictionary.reference.com/browsc/fraud?s=t, visited June 16, 2013; http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/fraud, visited June 16, 2013. Force is defined as physical power or strength possessed by a living being...strength or power exerted upon an object; physical coercion; violence, energy, power, intensity; power to influence, affect or control, efficacious power, unlawful violence threatened or committed against person or property. a http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/force?s=t&ld=1136, visited June16, 2013: http://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/force?show=0&t=1371410583, visited June 16, 2013. Given, the common understanding of force or fraud, the addition of the defendant's proposed language did not add any definition of consequence to how the defendant consumed the substance. Moreover, the wording presented did not preclude his defense that he was slipped something and the Defendant was clearly allowed to present this defense.

d. If there was error in the instruction, it was harmless.

Lastly, instructional error is presumed prejudicial, but can be shown to be harmless. *State v. Walters*, 162 Wn.App. 75, 255 P.3d 835 (Div 3, 2011). Should the court find the appropriate mental state for involuntary intoxication is one of insanity, Mr. Stacy still failed to prove it was involuntary. In order for Mr. Stacy to prove involuntary intoxication, he had to show two things by a preponderance of the evidence: 1) that he was given a substance by force or fraud, and 2) that it prevented him from understanding the nature and quality of his actions and rendered him incapable of conforming his conduct.

In the present case the defendant's evidence did not show by a preponderance of the evidence that he was slipped a substance by force or fraud or that it prevented him from understanding the nature and quality of his actions and rendered him incapable of conforming his conduct. The testimony showed Mr. Stacy was drinking that evening and had a motive for the attack. Ms. Holde insulted Mr. Stacy and his wife by accusing Mrs. Stacy of inappropriate sexual contact with another man and implying they were swingers. Mr. Stacy spoke to Mrs. Stacy about the accusation. Only after Mrs. Stacy denied the accusation did Mr. Stacy attack Ms. Holde after she insulted he and Mrs. Stacy. The testimony also showed after Mr. Stacy regained consciousness, Stacy continued to fight the police. Once he was under control, he was able to walk out of the hotel and be placed into a patrol car. At the hospital he was obstinate and obstructing, but it was goal directed in not wanting to be in the hospital. Then when faced with the removal of his necklace, he struck out at the security guard. The defendant's testimony that he did not remember would not outweigh all the evidence he acted with directed purpose and motive that evening.

Additionally, the only evidence presented by the defendant that night was that his level of drinking would not equate to his assaultive behavior, there was a sudden change in behavior, and he would not have voluntarily taken any drug. He did not present any evidence by blood sample or testimony that someone slipped something to him. He only provided the jury with conjecture. Thus, even if the court gave the instruction with the insanity and other means language, the Defendant did not prove involuntary intoxication to the jury and any error was harmless.

28

V. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE ELICITATION OF HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF THE DEFENDANT FROM A POLICE OFFICER AS THEY WERE HEARSAY, SPECULATION, AND OPINION TESTIMONY.

The Defendant argues he was denied the ability to present exculpatory evidence when the court sustained an objection to the elicitation of a defendant's statements to a police officer. However, defense counsel was able to present the evidence to the jury, excused the witness from his own subpoena and did not call the witness after the Defendant testified.

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